**RECEIVED**

**Aug 20 2024**

**SC Court of Appeals**

IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

---

The Honorable Shannon M. Phillips, Master-In-Equity

---

Case No. 2018-CP-42-02034  
Appellate Case No. 2023-001861

---

Daniel E. Schall .....Appellant,

v.

Lori M. Sealy, as Personal Representative for the Estate of Claude L. Mullwee a/k/a Claude Lee  
Mulwee, and the Estate of Deloris Robinson Mulwee .....Respondent.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

HAYNSWORTH SINKLER BOYD, P.A.  
Sarah P. Spruill, SC Bar # 68337  
ONE North Main, 2nd Floor  
P.O. Box 2048  
Greenville, SC 29601-2772

## **STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

1. In this action relating to a real estate contract, did the Master err in finding that the contract had been timely and properly terminated by Seller and in failing to award specific performance to Buyer?
  
2. Did the Master err in failing to award special damages and attorney's fees and costs to Buyer following Seller's wrongful purported termination of the parties' contract?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Daniel Schall (“Schall” or “Buyer”) filed this action on June 13, 2018, seeking specific performance and breach of contract damages against Lori Sealy as personal representative for her parents’ estates (“Sealy” or “Seller”). (R. at 17-32). The dispute stemmed from a contract for the sale of real property located at 720 Beacon Light Road in Spartanburg County. Sealy answered on August 2, 2018 asserting a general denial as well as equitable defenses. (R. at 33-35). By agreement of the parties, the matter was referred to the Master in Equity for Spartanburg County. (R. at 1-3).<sup>1</sup>

This action was tried before the Master on June 26-27, 2023. At trial, the evidence and testimony focused on whether Sealy was entitled to terminate the sale to Schall pursuant to paragraph 13 of the parties’ contract. Paragraph 13 provides. in pertinent part:

**FIRE OR CASUALTY OR INJURY: In case the Property is damaged wholly or partially by fire or other casualty prior to Closing, Parties will have the right for 5 Business Days after Notice of damage to deliver Notice of Termination to other Party.**

(R. at 276-84, ¶13). At the close of trial, the Master invited the parties to submit supplemental memoranda on this issue. (Memoranda, R. at 256:6-12, 36-44). The parties stipulated that Schall “was ready, willing and able to close on the property.” (R. at 107:25-08:2).

After considering the evidence and the memoranda, the Master issued an order on August 23, 2023 finding that Sealy had properly terminated the contract, and, as a result, Schall was not entitled to any relief. (R. at 7-13). This ruling rested on the Master’s finding that “the theft of the heirloom vegetation and damage to the lock on the building were sudden and unexpected losses

---

<sup>1</sup> Following a dismissal and reinstatement pursuant to Rule 40(j), SCRCP, the matter was again referred to the Master. (R. at 4-6).

caused by a third party for which Defendant then had the right to terminate the Contract.” (R. at 10).

Schall moved to alter or amend on September 5, 2023, arguing that there had not been a casualty; that there had not been any notification of casualty; that if there was some notification of casualty that the contract had not been terminated timely; and that Schall was entitled to specific performance and damages. (R. at 45-94). The Master heard the motion on October 31, 2023, and issued a short order denying the motion on November 2, 2023. (R. at 14-16). This appeal followed.

## FACTS

### **I. The parties enter a contract for the sale of real property.**

The property at issue is 63.65 acres in rural Spartanburg County. (R. at 107:9-19). The real estate listing reflected that there were buildings on the property but that those structures were “included in sale as-is and at no value.” (Pl. Ex. 4, R. at 292-94). The listing price was \$180,000. (R. at 292-94, 112:20-22)

After seeing the listing, Schall made an offer of \$191,146.00, which was accepted by Sealy. (R. at 112:23-113:7). The parties entered into a contract using a standard South Carolina Association of Realtors form. (R. at 276-84). Schall’s signature was applied by his power of attorney, Thalia Moffitt, on March 22, 2018. (*Id.*). Sealy signed on March 23, 2018. (*Id.*). Schall entered the contract to purchase the property sight unseen (R. at 129:25-30:3), and Sealy had not been “on that property in decades.” (R. at 165:24-66:5).

The contract defines the “Property” to be “any and all parcel of land, appurtenant interests, improvements, landscape, systems, and fixtures[.]”<sup>2</sup> (R. at 276-84, ¶3). The parties agreed that “no

---

<sup>2</sup> For purposes of this brief, the capitalized term “Property” relates solely to the term as defined in Paragraph 3 of the parties’ contract.

personal property will transfer as part of this sale.” (*Id.*). Seller was required to “convey possession of a vacant and reasonably clean Property, free of debris[.]” (*Id.*, ¶4).

In addition, Seller agreed not to remove vegetation and not to bring any trash or debris onto the Property between the time of contracting and the closing. (*Id.*, ¶17). Under this provision, Seller agreed that “[a]ll timber, vegetation, dirt, . . .” would remain on the Property, and Buyer alone had the right to terminate if there was a violation of this paragraph. This provision provides in full:

**17. CONDITION OF PROPERTY:** Seller shall not remove any timber, vegetation, dirt, minerals, or otherwise affect the condition of the property from the Effective Date through Closing. All timber, vegetation, dirt, minerals, or similar shall remain as part of the Property and be conveyed to the Buyer at Closing. The Seller shall not bring any trash, refuse, debris, dirt, fill, medical wastes, hazardous wastes, or other materials onto the Property. Seller shall Deliver Notice of any legal action or condemnation action to the Buyer as soon as possible. If Seller Delivers such Notice, Buyer may unilaterally terminate this Contract by Delivering to the Seller a Notice of Termination. If Seller receives this Delivered Notice of Termination at any time, remaining Earnest Money shall be returned to the Buyer. Should Buyer not Deliver this Notice of Termination, Buyer agrees to purchase and Seller agrees to sell the Property in accordance with Contract.

(*Id.*).

In the event of “fire or casualty or injury,” the contract provided:

**13. FIRE OR CASUALTY OR INJURY:** In case the Property is damaged wholly or partially by fire or other casualty prior to Closing, Parties will have the right for 5 Business Days after Notice of damage to Deliver Notice of Termination to other Party. If Party does not Deliver Notice of Termination, the Parties proceed according to the Contract and Seller is to be responsible to (1) repair all damage, (2) remit to Buyer an amount for repairs, or (3) assign to Buyer the right to all proceeds of insurance and remit any deductible amount applicable to such casualty. If Buyer or Inspections caused the damage, Buyer is responsible for indemnifying Seller for damages. Brokers and Parties should ensure that they are protected by appropriate risk management strategies such as insurance.

(*Id.*, ¶13). Notice under the contract was required to be in writing to the “Notice address/ email/ fax written below.” (*Id.*, ¶34). There is no provision for notice via text message.

Buyer waived due diligence. (*Id.*, ¶12). Buyer, however, retained inspection rights and the right to “make reasonable record of the Property” and to “make reasonable visual observations of Property.” (*Id.*, ¶8).

In the event of default, the parties agreed as follows:

- (A) If Seller defaults in the performance of any of the Seller's obligations under this Contract ("Default"), Buyer may:
  - (i) Deliver Notice of Default to Seller and terminate Contract and
  - (ii) Pursue any remedies available to Buyer at law or equity and
  - (iii) Recover attorneys' fees and all other direct costs of litigation if Seller found in default/breach of Contract.
- (B) If Buyer defaults in the performance of any of the Buyer's obligations under this Contract ("Default"), Seller may:
  - (i) Deliver Notice of Default to Buyer and terminate Contract and
  - (ii) Pursue any remedies available to Seller at law or equity and
  - (iii) Recover attorneys' fees and all other direct costs of litigation if Buyer found in default/breach of Contract.
- (C) If either/both Parties default, Parties agree to sign an escrow deposit disbursement agreement or release agreement.
- (D) Parties may agree in writing to allow a Cure Period for a default. If within the Cure Period, either Party cures the Default and Delivers Notice, Parties shall proceed under the Contract.

(*Id.*, ¶27).

## **II. Seller wrongfully attempts to terminate the contract.**

The closing was to occur no later than May 23, 2018. (*Id.*). In the interim, Schall had the opportunity to inspect the Property as provided in the contract. (R. at 276-84, ¶8, 114:24-15:1). In doing so, Moffitt, as Schall's power of attorney, noticed some changes to the vegetation and various forms of trash and debris. (R. at 113:13-14:10). Among other things, the parties became aware of a large number of discarded tires located on the Property. (R. at 299-302, 118:25-19:4). Schall notified Sealy of the debris on April 5 and asked that it be removed as required by the contract. (R. at 690-92, 149:23-50:20).

On April 22, Buyer's agent sent Seller's agent an email that read, "The Buyers are concerned that plants and/or vegetation are being removed from the property without their knowledge. Are you able to see if /why Seller are doing so? Other than debris, Buyers would really like for the property to be left alone. Thanks in advance!" (R. at 90-91, 682). The next day, Buyer's agent sent a follow up email, reading in pertinent part:

It is clear that someone has been there and has removed several plants and vegetation from around the property. Below are just some of the photos of what was once there and has been removed.

Their cleanup guy quoted them at around \$3,000 to have all of the debris removed from the previous location specified. They have also requested that the remaining trash in the home [be] removed as well. It looks like someone went and just

scattered the trash around the floor. The lock on the side building looks like it has been damaged some more.

(*Id.*). The April 23 email included photographs showing that the vegetation was, in fact, still there. (R. at 90-91). The photographs also showed that the lock in question was a padlock and not a fixture of the Property. (*Id.*). Schall never referenced any “casualty” to the Property. (R. at 116:16-22).

On April 28, Seller purported to terminate the Contract pursuant to paragraph 13 by sending a “Notice of Termination and Release of Agreement for 720 Beacon Light Road/ Spartanburg” (“Notice of Termination”) based on “buyer’s email to seller on Monday April 23rd where buyer notified seller of casualties to the property via email.” (R. at 295-98). The attempted Notice of Termination was transmitted to Buyer on a standard South Carolina Association of Realtors form. (*Id.*) Schall did not issue any sort of communication that suggested he believed the contract had been terminated or that he assented to any purported termination.

On May 23, Moffitt appeared for Schall at the closing with a check for the down payment and financing for the remainder of the purchase price. (R. at 117:9-22). Schall testified at trial that he remained ready, willing, and able to purchase the Property as set forth in the contract. (R. at 127:20-25).

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

Schall brought this action seeking legal<sup>3</sup> and equitable<sup>4</sup> relief. “When a suit involves both legal and equitable issues, each cause of action retains its own identity as legal or equitable for purposes of the applicable standard of review on appeal.” *Holly Woods Ass’n of Residence Owners v. Hiller*, 392 S.C. 172, 180, 708 S.E.2d 787, 792 (Ct. App. 2011). “In an action in equity tried by a judge alone, the appellate court may find facts in accordance with its view of the preponderance of the evidence.” *Goldman v. RBC, Inc.*, 369 S.C. 462, 465, 632 S.E.2d 850, 851 (2006). “However, this broad scope of review does not require the appellate court to disregard the findings made below.” *Id.* “In an action at law tried without a jury, an appellate court’s scope of review extends merely to the correction of errors of law.” *Temple v. Tec-Fab, Inc.*, 381 S.C. 597, 599–600, 675 S.E.2d 414, 415 (2009). “Therefore, the trial court’s findings will not be disturbed unless they are found to be without evidence that reasonably supports those findings.” *Walterboro Cmty. Hosp. v. Meacher*, 392 S.C. 479, 484, 709 S.E.2d 71, 74 (Ct. App. 2011).

With respect to the construction of the contract and the definition of casualty, construction of an unambiguous contract is a matter of law for the court. *Pearson v. Church of God*, 325 S.C. 45, 54, 478 S.E.2d 849, 853 (1996); *Rental Unif. Serv. of Florence, Inc. v. Dudley*, 278 S.C. 674,

---

<sup>3</sup> “A breach of contract action is an action at law.” *Madden v. Bent Palm Invs., LLC*, 386 S.C. 459, 464, 688 S.E.2d 597, 599 (Ct. App. 2010).

<sup>4</sup> “[O]ur appellate courts have traditionally viewed the main purpose of a cause of action seeking specific performance as the pursuit of equitable relief and thus have found such a claim to be equitable in nature.” *Lollis v. Dutton*, 421 S.C. 467, 479, 807 S.E.2d 723, 729 (Ct. App. 2017) (citing *Ingram v. Kasey’s Assocs.*, 340 S.C. 98, 105, 531 S.E.2d 287, 290–91 (2000) (applying the equitable standard of review to the findings of fact in a specific performance action)); *Lowcountry Open Land Tr. v. Charleston S. Univ.*, 376 S.C. 399, 406, 656 S.E.2d 775, 779 (Ct. App. 2008) (holding that an action for specific performance lies in equity)).

676, 301 S.E.2d 142, 143-44 (1983). “This Court reviews all questions of law de novo.” *Fesmire v. Digh*, 385 S.C. 296, 302, 683 S.E.2d 803, 807 (Ct. App. 2009).

## ARGUMENT

### **I. The Master erred in finding that there was a casualty triggering the right to termination under paragraph 13 of the parties’ contract.**

Generally, contract language must be construed according to its plain meaning. *Holden v. Alice Mfg., Inc.*, 317 S.C. 215, 220, 452 S.E.2d 628, 631 (Ct. App. 1994). If the language is clear and unambiguous, it determines the rights and obligations of the parties as a matter of law and no additional evidence will be considered. *Id.* However, “the subject matter and purpose of the contract are to be considered in ascertaining the intention of the parties and the meaning of the terms they have used . . . [T]he dry words of the contract should, if possible, be so interpreted as to subserve, not subvert, such intention.” *Dibble v. Dibble*, 248 S.C. 165, 181, 149 S.E.2d 355, 364 (1966). “Common sense and good faith are the leading touchstones of construction of the provisions of a contract; where one construction makes the provisions unusual or extraordinary and another construction which is equally consistent with the language employed, would make it reasonable, fair, and just, the latter construction must prevail.” *Parker v. Byrd*, 309 S.C. 189, 193, 420 S.E.2d 850, 853 (1992). Moreover, contracts must be interpreted as a whole “so as to give effect to all of their provisions.” *Reyhani v. Stone Creek Cove Condo. II Horizontal Prop. Regime*, 329 S.C. 206, 212, 494 S.E.2d 465, 468 (Ct. App. 1997).

Here, the sentence the Court is called to construe reads, “[i]n case the Property is damaged wholly or partially by fire or other casualty prior to Closing, Parties will have the right for 5 Business Days after Notice of damage to deliver Notice of Termination to other Party.” (R. at 276-84, ¶13). Property is a defined term meaning “any and all parcel of land, appurtenant interests, improvements, landscape, systems, and fixtures[.]” (*Id.*, ¶3). Personal property is excluded. (*Id.*).

There is no document in the record titled “Notice of damage.” There is no allegation of fire. The Master identified two items as casualties to the Property that occurred following the formation of the contract: (1) “theft” of vegetation, and (2) damage to a lock on the building. (R. at 9). These are the same items identified by Seller’s real estate agent as the basis for the purported termination. (R. at 201:22-02:12). The email sent by Buyer’s agent on April 23, and referenced in Seller’s attempted termination notice, does not use the words casualty or loss and only uses a form of the word “damage” once: “The lock on the side building looks like it has been damaged some more.” (R. at 90-91, 682).<sup>5</sup> Buyer testified that he did not intend his questions about the lock and the vegetation to be a “Notice of damage,” but rather to create a “reasonable record of the Property” as contemplated in paragraph 8 of the contract. (R. at 114:14-15:1).

The record, however, establishes that there was no theft of vegetation, but rather that a few flowers completed their bloom cycle and died back as would be expected in the March-May period. (R. at 170:22-71:6, 90-91). The photographs attached to the April 23 email plainly show that the plants in question had not been removed. (R. at 90-91). Sealy’s testimony confirms what is shown in the photographs. (R. at 171:6 (“They had not been removed they were still there.”)). Moreover, vegetation on the Property is elsewhere addressed in paragraph 17 of the parties’ contract. (R. at 276-84, ¶17). Given that language, it is clear that the intent was that vegetation issues would be handled pursuant to paragraph 17.

---

<sup>5</sup> Given the notice provision found in paragraph 34 of the contract, the Master’s orders err to the extent they can be construed to state that “Notice” was provided via text message. (R. at 276-84, ¶34).

With respect to the padlock, it was an already damaged piece of personal property that would not have conveyed as part of the sale. (R. at 90-91, 165:7-11). Seller confirmed that she did not view the lock as a casualty. (R. at 169:1-3).

Given the evidence in the record, there was no loss or theft of vegetation and the padlock was not Property for purposes of the contract. Thus, the events relied upon by Seller for termination, the same events identified by the Master, cannot have constituted a casualty for purposes of the contract.

Since the term “casualty” is not defined in the contract, the term must be given its plain, ordinary, popular dictionary meaning. *Am. Credit of Sumter, Inc. v. Nationwide Mut. Ins. Co.*, 378 S.C. 623, 628, 663 S.E.2d. 492, 495 (2008); *Walde v. Ass’n Ins. Co.*, 401 S.C. 431, 444-45, 737 S.E.2d 631, 637-38 (Ct. App. 2012) (considering dictionary definitions to determine meaning of an undefined term in insurance policy). In this context, Merriam-Webster applies the following definition, “serious or fatal accident : **DISASTER** losses from fire, storm, or other *casualty*.” <https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/casualty> (visited 3/19/2024). Black’s law dictionary defines “casualty loss” as “for tax purposes, the total or partial destruction of an asset resulting from an unexpected or unusual event, such as an automobile accident or a tornado.” LOSS, Black’s Law Dictionary (11th ed. 2019).

According to guidance from the Internal Revenue Service, a “casualty loss can result from the damage, destruction, or loss of your property from any sudden, unexpected, or unusual event such as a flood, hurricane, fire, earthquake, or volcanic eruption. A casualty doesn’t include normal wear and tear or progressive deterioration.” See IRS Topic No 515, Casualty, Disaster and Theft Losses, <https://www.irs.gov/taxtopics/tc515> (visited 3/19/2024). In *Keenan v. Bowers*, 91 F.Supp. 771 (D.S.C. 1950), the United States District Court for the District of South Carolina was asked to

determine if the loss of diamond rings accidentally flushed down a toilet amounted to a loss caused by a casualty under the Internal Revenue Code. Holding that such an event was not a casualty, the court wrote:

The word 'casualty' has been defined as follows: 'An accident or casualty, according to common understanding, proceeds from an unknown cause or is an unusual effect of a known cause. Either may be properly said to occur by chance and unexpectedly.' 'Casualty' has also been defined as 'an event due to some sudden, unexpected, or unusual cause,' and embraces losses arising through the action of natural forces and which occur suddenly, unexpectedly, and without design on the part of the one who suffers the loss.'

*Id.* at 773-74 (internal citations omitted); *Buist v. U.S.*, 164 F.Supp. 218, 220 (E.D.S.C. 1958) (applying the definition of "other casualty" contained in the Internal Revenue Code, which states losses can only be deducted if they "arise from fire, storm, shipwreck, or other casualty, or from theft").

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