RECEIVED

Aug 26 2024

SC Court of Appeals

IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY
IN THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS

THE HONORABLE SHANNON M. PHILLIPS, MASTER IN EQUITY

Civil Action No. 2018-CP-42-02034
Appellate Case No. 2023-001861

Daniel E. Schall Appellant,

v.

Lori M. Sealy, as Personal Representative for the Estate of Claude L. Mullwee a/k/a Claude Lee
Mulwee, and the Estate of Deloris Robinson Mulwee, Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

**KILLOREN, KISSINGER, DANTIN,
DENTON & DUNHAM, P.C.**

Ryan F. McCarty S.C. Bar No.:74198

KD Trial Lawyers

178 W. Main Street (29306)

PO Box 3547

Spartanburg, SC 29304

(864) 585-5100

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

ARGUMENT

STANDARD OF REVIEW

An action for specific performance of a real estate contract sounds in equity. *Ingram v. Kasey's Assocs.*, 340 S.C. 98, 105, 531 S.E.2d 287, 290 (2000). “In an appeal from an action in equity tried by a judge, appellate courts may find facts in accordance with their own views of the preponderance of the evidence.” *Wachovia Bank, Nat. Ass'n. v. Blackburn*, 407 S.C. 321, 328, 755 S.E.2d 437, 441 (2014) (citing *Townes Assocs., Ltd. v. City of Greenville*, 266 S.C. 81, 86, 221 S.E.2d 773, 775 (1976)). “However, this [c]ourt is not required to disregard the findings of the trial judge who saw and heard the witnesses and was in a better position to judge their credibility.” *Ingram*, 340 S.C. at 105, 531 S.E.2d at 291.

I. THE MASTER-IN-EQUITY CORRECTLY FOUND THAT RESPONDENT-SELLER VALIDLY TERMINATED THE REAL ESTATE CONTRACT UNDER THE CASUALTY CLAUSE.

After two days of trial, the Master-in-Equity found Respondent-Seller’s Notice of Termination of the contract both proper and timely. (R. p. 9). Appellant-Buyer, in a series of e-mails and texts starting on April 23, 2018, and continuing until April 25, 2018, notified Respondent-Seller of alleged casualties to the property and argued for concessions on the contract because he believed Respondent-Seller to be violation of Paragraphs 3, 4, and 17 of the contract. (R. p. 142, line 6 – p. 143, line 4; R. p. 682; R. p. 683; R. pp. 688-689; R. pp. 276-284). Specifically, Appellant-Buyer claimed there had been theft of heirloom vegetation and additional damage to a lock on a building and the like. (R. p. 142, lines 6 – 25; R. pp. 688-689). Appellant-Buyer thought the losses were significant enough to demand contract concessions noting that the lost heirloom vegetation could not be easily replaced and further stating that its removal affected

“the beauty of the property and our ability to market the property in the way we intended when we submitted an offer to purchase the property.” (R. p. 143, line 6 – p. 144, line 4; R. pp 688-689).

The Master-in-Equity concluded that the theft of the heirloom vegetation and damage to the lock on the building alleged by Appellant-Buyer were “sudden and unexpected losses caused by a third-party” for which Respondent-Seller then had the right to terminate the contract. (R. p. 10). In so ruling, the Master applied Section 13 of the contract pertaining to “Fire or Casualty or Injury” which permits termination of the contract if the property “is damaged wholly or partially by fire or other casualty prior to Closing.” (R. pp. 276-284).

It is a well-settled principle of contract interpretation that absent a contractual definition to the contrary, contract language is given its ordinary and plain meaning. *Bardsley v. Gov't Emps. Ins. Co.*, 405 S.C. 68, 76, 747 S.E.2d 436 (S.C. 2013) (citing *Dean v. Am. Fire & Cas. Co.*, 249 S.C. 39, 41, 152 S.E.2d 247, 248 (1967) (“When the language of an insurance contract is free from ambiguity, the words used must be taken and understood in their plain, ordinary and popular sense....”). Here, where the contract does not define the terms “casualty” or “other casualty,” both Respondent-Seller and the Master quite reasonably applied the plain and ordinary meaning to the term. The Master’s Order specifically references the Black’s Law Dictionary definition of the term “casualty” as a “thing injured, lost, or destroyed.” *Casualty*, Black’s Law Dictionary (9th Ed. 2009). Black’s Law Dictionary defines the term “loss” as “[a]n undesirable outcome of a risk; the disappearance or diminution of value, [usually] in an unexpected or relatively unpredictable way.” *Loss*, Black’s Law Dictionary (9th Ed. 2009). Meriam-Webster Dictionary’s definition of “casualty” includes “a person or thing injured, lost, or destroyed. *Casualty*, Merriam-Webster.com. Retrieved July 7, 2023, from www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/casualty. A synonym for “injury” is damage. *Injury*. Merriam-Webster.com. Retrieved July 7, 2023, from

www.merriamwebster.com/thesaurus/injury. All those terms imply harm or damage to property that causes diminution of value in some way. This is a commonsensical understanding and interpretation of the word which both the Master-in-Equity and Respondent-Seller employed in determining the termination of the contract was justified under the terms of the contract.

This result is also justified by how South Carolina has generally defined “casualty” in its statutes, regulations, and in insurance contract interpretation. The term generally refers to an unforeseen event that results in damage or loss. For example, our insurance regulations define “Casualty Insurance” as “[t]hose forms of indemnity providing for payment for loss or damage, resulting from accidental or some unanticipated contingency, except fire and the elements.” S.C. Code Regs. § 69-3. This definition suggests that “casualty” refers to an unforeseen event that results in damage or loss. In *Smith v. Ramsey*, 244 S.C. 168, 171-72, 135 S.E.2d 849 (S.C. 1964), our Court construed the word “loss” as “a comprehensive term and means any injury, destruction or damage resulting from the occurrence of the contingency insured against.” Again, this definition is consistent with the suggestion that “casualty” is synonymous with a loss and refers to an unforeseen event that results in damage.

South Carolina Code § 36-2-613 and § 36-2-324, mention the term “casualty” in the context of goods that are lost or deteriorated, again suggesting that “casualty” refers to an unforeseen event that damages or destroys property. So, while there does not appear to be a single, universally applicable definition of “casualty” in South Carolina law, the authorities suggest that the term refers to an unforeseen event that results in damage or loss, and the Master’s understanding and application of the term is entirely consistent with existing law.

This result is further supported by how other jurisdictions have defined “casualty” and “casualty loss” often equating those terms with “loss” and sudden damage. A 2014 decision from

the U.S. District Court for the Western District of Virginia addressed whether a loss caused by theft that damaged HVAC units constituted a casualty loss for purposes of the lease. *Acken v. Kroger Co.*, 58 F.Supp.3d 620 (2014). That court found that “for purposes of insurance coverage, ‘casualty’ is broadly defined,” and “the theft of the HVAC piping constituted a casualty loss as a matter of law.” *Id.* at 628.

In Connecticut, their Supreme Court used Webster’s Dictionary to interpret “casualty” to mean “an unfortunate occurrence synonymous with mischance.” *Buell Industries, Inc. v. Greater New York Mutual Ins. Co.*, 259 Conn. 527, 542 (Conn. 2002) (citing *Verdon v. Transamerica Ins. Co.*, 187 Conn. 363, 368, 446 A.2d 3 (1982)).

In North Carolina, “accident” and “casualty” are synonymous and are defined as “an unforeseen event, occurring without the will or design of the person whose mere act causes it; an unexpected, unusual, or undesigned occurrence; the effect of an unknown cause, or, the cause being known, an unprecedented consequence of it; a casualty.” *Taylor v. Indemnity Co.*, 257 N.C. 626, 627 (N.C. 1962) (citing Black’s Law Dictionary, Third Edition.) *See also Wm. C. Vick Const. Co. v. Pennsylvania Nat. Mut.*, 52 F. Supp. 2d 569, 578 (E.D.N.C. 1999) (citing *Waste Management of Carolinas, Inc. v. Peerless Ins. Co.*, 315 N.C. 688, 691, 340 S.E.2d 374, 377, (1986)).

Similarly, in Missouri, accidents and casualties are also synonymous and include “a mishap resulting in injury to a person or damage to a thing; a casualty.” *American States Ins. Co. v. Mathis*, 974 S.W.2d 647, 650 (Mo. Ct. App. 1998) (citing *West v. Jacobs*, 790 S.W.2d 475, 477 (Mo. App. 1990); *Murphy v. Western and Southern Life Ins. Co.*, 262 S.W.2d 340, 342 (Mo. App. 1953)); *Flindemann v. Gen. Am. Life Ins. Co.*, 485 S.W.2d 477, 479 (Mo. App. 1972)).

Mississippi defines casualty as “a loss due to some sudden, unexpected, or unusual event. Casualty losses include losses caused by fire, storm, shipwreck, hurricane, flood, quarry blast, vandalism, sonic boom, earthquake or earth slide.” 35 Miss. Code R. § 3-06-01-100. All the above examples from South Carolina and other jurisdictions support the Master’s construction of the term “casualty” to mean damage or loss to the property.

Here, the Master’s decision is amply supported by the record. Appellant-Buyer’s real estate agent’s email dated April 23, 2018, identified casualties to the property. (R. p. 682). Appellant-Buyer’s subsequent text messages to Respondent-Seller and her agent, further detailed the alleged casualties to the property and he specifically sought contract concessions for the lost vegetation and demanded repairs to the damaged lock and removal of trash discovered on the property after entering the contract. (R. p. 142, line 6 –p. 143, line 4).

Applying the common understanding of the word “casualty,” the items complained of by Appellant-Buyer amounted to “casualties” for which Respondent-Seller had the right to terminate the contract.

Again, Section 13 of the contract states, “[i]n case the Property is damaged wholly or partially by fire or other casualty prior to closing, Parties will have the right for 5 Business Days after Notice of damage to deliver Notice of Termination to the other Party.” To avoid arguments about the size or the extent of the casualty, the contract simply allows either party to properly terminate when the property is damaged, whether “wholly or partially,” before closing. This provision is important because, in the occurrence of a casualty to the property, the seller may not be able to afford to remedy the loss and may prefer simply to terminate the contract, just as the Respondent-Seller did in this case.

Appellant-Buyer's *ex post facto* arguments that the April 23, 2018, e-mail and the subsequent text messages exchanged were not "intended" to provide notice of damage are spurious and self-serving at best. While Appellant-Buyer claimed at trial that his communications to Respondent-Seller regarding the damage to the property were intended merely to create a "reasonable record of the property," (R. p. 114, line 14 – p. 115, line 1), in reality, he was claiming actual damages and demanding contract concessions as a result. (R. p. 142, line 6 – p. 143, line 4; R. p. 682; R. p. 683). In that email, the real estate agent specifically noted that "someone has been there and has removed several plants and vegetation around the property," and "it looks like someone went and just scattered trash around the floor." (R. p. 682; R. p. 135, line 8 – p. 136, line 13). Appellant-Buyers's real estate agent also noted in that email that "the lock on the side building looks like it has been damaged some more. I understand this is tedious but the buyers will not close until these are addressed. Please let me know what you can do." (*Id.*) The Broker-in-Charge for both agents understood the April 23, 2018 e-mail to contain notice of damages to the property. (R. p. 682; R. p. 216, R. p. 217, line 19 – p. 218, line 7).

That Appellant-Buyer belatedly concluded there had been no actual theft of heirloom vegetation but rather a completion on a natural blooming cycle (R. p. 170, line 22 – p. 171, line 6), is immaterial. That Appellant-Buyer later concluded the broken lock and door damages were personal property issues that would have conveyed without redress is also immaterial. That Respondent-Seller herself would have not considered naturally dying wildflowers or broken locks and hinges "casualties" is likewise immaterial. At the time of the termination of the contract, Appellant-Buyer himself was asserting damage, i.e. casualty, to the property occurring since the formation of the contract and he himself was demanding concessions for it. (R. p. 142, lines 14 – p. 143, lines 4; R. p. 145, lines 5 – 16; R. p. 682; R. pp. 688-689).

Respondent-Seller became aware of those assertions and demands, and those, in and of themselves, were sufficient for her to terminate the contract under Paragraph 13. (R. p. 202, line 19 – p. 203, line 23; R. p. 218, line 23 – p. 221, line 21; R. pp. 295-298). The Master properly concluded Appellant-Buyer believed the losses to be of significant monetary value to such an extent that he specifically sought contract concessions for the alleged lost vegetation and demanded repairs to the damaged lock following the formation of the contract. (R. pp. 9-10; R. pp. 688-689). Therefore, the Master properly ruled the Notice of Termination justified per the terms of the contract and should be affirmed by this Court.

II. THE MASTER-IN-EQUITY CORRECTLY FOUND RESPONDENT-SELLER'S TERMINATION OF THE PARTIES' CONTRACT TIMELY.

Having properly found that that Respondent-Seller was entitled to terminate the contract, the Master-in-Equity also correctly found that the Notice of Termination was timely. Appellant-Buyer's communications regarding the damage/casualties to the property began on April 23, 2018, (R. p. 682), and were amplified via text messages among the agents and parties on April 24 & 25, 2018. (R. p. 142, line 6 – 25; R. p. 202, line 19 – p. 203, line 23). Respondent-Seller did so on April 28, 2018, well within the five (5) day termination period required by the contract. (R. p. 295-298; R. p. 143, line 19 – p. 144, line 7). That Notice of Termination specifically referenced it as a response to the April 23, 2018, e-mail. (*Id.*)

Appellant-Buyer's attempts to conflate his complaints about debris on the property and debris removal negotiations (which began on April 6, 2018) are also spurious and designed to mislead the Court. The contract was terminated based on Appellant-Buyer's allegations of damage to the property occurring postdate of contract with those allegations first being made via e-mail on

April 23, 2018. (R. p. 682). The disputes over debris removal were not ultimately the cause for the termination of the contract nor were they the basis for the Master's decision.

Appellant-Buyer's belated objections to the introduction and consideration of the subsequent text message threads that may have contained comments from his wife are not properly before this Court. Appellant-Buyer did not raise any such objections or issues at trial, and he only belatedly objected to them in his Rule 59(e) motion. Issues not raised prior to judgment or during a trial cannot properly be presented for the first time in a Rule 59(e) motion. *Patterson v. Reid*, 318 S.C. 183, 185, 456 S.E.2d 436, 437 (Ct. App. 1995) ("A party cannot for the first time raise an issue by way of a Rule 59(e) motion which could have been raised at trial."). The Master properly refused to alter or amend her Order based on the belated evidentiary objections and arguments under Rule 59(e) and, likewise, those issues are not preserved for this Court's review. "Accordingly, we find this issue is not preserved for appellate review." *Miller Constr. Co. v. PC Constr. of Greenwood, Inc.*, 418 S.C. 186, 206, 791 S.E.2d 321 (Ct. App. 2016) (citing *Patterson*, *supra*).

Similarly, Appellant-Buyer's belated objection to notices under the contract being conveyed via text message raised at footnote 5 of Appellant's Brief is also not preserved for appellate review. No such objections or arguments were raised at trial or even in Appellant-Buyer's Rule 59(e) motion. Therefore, this Court cannot consider an issue raised for the first time on appeal. *Herron v. Century BMW*, 395 S.C. 461, 465, 719 S.E.2d 640, 642 (2011) ("It is 'axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal.'" (quoting *Wilder Corp. v. Wilke*, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998))). The Court should note that, in any event, the Master's Orders never relied on Notice being provided via text message but rather relied on the email sent April 23, 2018, (R. p. 682) providing notice of damage to the property and the email dated April

28, 2018, sending the Notice of Termination. (R. pp. 295- 298). Such electronic communications are specifically authorized by the contract at paragraph 34. (R. p. 276) (“electronic writing and will be effective as of delivery to the Notice address/email/fax written below). The Notice was clearly within the five (5) day window and thus, the Master correctly found it to be timely. This Court should affirm in all respects.

CONCLUSION

Because the Master-In-Equity correctly found the real estate contract properly and timely terminated, Appellant-Buyer was not entitled to specific performance or any other contract remedies. This Court should affirm the Master’s decisions in all respects.